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Dear Mr Halldearn
Response to First GB CUSC Consultation
Powergen generally supports the Ofgem/DTI proposals outlined in this first GB CUSC consultation document. In some areas we have highlighted where we believe that the opportunity exists to develop the GB CUSC even further than outlined in this initial consultation.

A Great Britain (GB) wide version of the Connection and Use of System Code (CUSC) is a both a necessary and desirable aspect of BETTA. As such we believe that it is vital that the development of the GB CUSC progresses alongside all the other key BETTA documents/agreements so that an integrated legal framework is created.

We concur that developing the GB CUSC using the existing England and Wales CUSC is the most practical way forward, although as described in greater detail later, we would prefer that all key commercial connection and use-of-system terms affecting market participants were to be contained in a single GB Code. 

We recognise that the requirement for primary legislation and the inherent complexity of BETTA has slightly delayed the project to 1 October 2004. Nevertheless, it is important that there is no further slippage in the timetable, as this will mean that those companies operating in Scotland will continue to endure trading conditions, which fall short in terms of both competitiveness and transparency, compared with those that apply in England and Wales.

Powergen believes that the GB CUSC should create a standardised approach to connection and use of the transmission system. The areas where non-standard arrangements are allowed should be kept to an absolute minimum to ensure transparent and equitable access for all users. An example of one area where a non-standard approach may be pragmatic is to classify some Scottish 132kV lines as transmission and not distribution as this more accurately reflects their role within the system 

This response follows the same structure as the consultation document. Therefore, we answer each request for views in turn and where appropriate expand on the issues that should be considered.

Chapter 4 – Legal Framework and Development of the GB CUSC

· We agree that the GB system operator (GB SO) should be responsible for contracting with transmission system users for both connection to, and use of, the system. This should then result in a much simpler contractual framework than the undesirable and potentially unmanageable alternative of requiring system users to have contracts in place with both the transmission owner and operator. The recently proposed STC should enable the necessary contractual arrangements between the system operator and transmission owners to be satisfied. The STC should be amended as and when necessary to reflect any changes in the contractual terms between transmission network users and the GB SO.

· It is appropriate for the GB SO to have a licence condition requiring the creation of a GB CUSC.

· Powergen believes that a GB CUSC is a key component of the overall BETTA reforms and therefore it is important and necessary that the GB CUSC is progressed as in integrated part of the BETTA legal framework.

· We agree that the initial GB SO should progress legal drafting to create a GB CUSC from the current England and Wales CUSC subject to regulatory oversight and industry consultation. We would expect this to require only the minimum of changes. We would prefer that the changes could be incorporated as part of a combined GB CUSC and GB BSC.

Chapter 5 – Possible changes to CUSC to apply it across GB

· We support the proposal that the governing law of the GB CUSC should be exclusively that of England and Wales. We agree with the arguments put forward in sections 5.2 to 5.10 that there are substantial arguments for exclusively using English law whilst Scottish property rights should be protected under the principle of lex situs.

· The governance arrangements and processes for amending the various codes within the England and Wales market are currently unduly fragmented, cumbersome and unnecessarily bureaucratic.   We therefore believe BETTA provides the opportunity to rationalise and improve these arrangements by reducing the number of codes and thereby bring together all the substantive terms that impact market participants under the governance of a single Panel.

Ideally this would involve combining the GB BSC and GB CUSC, Balancing Principles Statement, Procurement Guidelines, Balancing Service Adjustment Data methodology and other related commercial documents.  Clearly, this would also involve amending the Licensing arrangements requiring the GB SO to establish particular codes, statements, charging methodologies etc. Such arrangements would allow market participants to propose changes to the above documents. Currently, even if Ofgem support suggested industry changes to these documents, they cannot implement such changes without the supporting recommendations of NGC.

The current fragmentation of electricity trading arrangements across a diverse range of documents and codes creates barriers to industry participation and at times leads to duplication, and uncoordinated activities.  It would be unfortunate if BETTA were to perpetuate the deficiencies of the existing code structures and governance. At the very least oversight and management of the GB CUSC and GB BSC by one overarching GB Panel, which is independent of the GB SO, should be considered.

· We agree that Section 2.12.1(c) of the CUSC should be generalised to apply GB-wide for generation and demand connections at the 132kV level. However, we do not propose that the (distribution) 132kV assets in England and Wales become transmission assets as this would result in substantial and unnecessary costs to the industry. Rather, we recommend that those wires at 132kV in Scotland that act as high voltage transmission wires should be considered as such.

· Powergen believes that all the current provisions of the CUSC with regard to the commercial terms for provision of balancing services should be extended to the GB CUSC or better still a combined GB CUSC – GB BSC. In addition Powergen believe that all the commercial terms should fall under one governance body and therefore propose that it is appropriate to take advantage of this opportunity to include amongst others such documents as the Balancing Principles Statement and Procurement Guidelines so they also fall under the same governance and modification process.

· Powergen does not believe that any changes are needed to the CUSC with regard to Licence Exempt Generation. If generation in Scotland is connected to the transmission network at 132KV or less then they should continue to be treated as transmission connected assets. Listed below are the issues that we believe a future consultation regarding the position of distributed generation under BETTA will need to address:-

· Common approach to connection/network access of distributed generation

· Operating conditions for distributed generation, supported by necessary commercial contractual agreement in GB CUSC

· Dispatch and operation of distributed generation

· The information required from the distributed generators to enable the safe and efficient operation of the transmission network by the GB SO

· Procedures to enable central dispatch of distributed generators by the GB SO.

· For reasons of equability it is appropriate that the current derogation arrangement in England and Wales with regard to the “transfer date” is extended to Scottish gensets that were similarly commissioned before 31 March 1990.

Chapter 6 Existing Bilateral Arrangements

· Powergen believes that to create transparent and equitable arrangements for all users it will be necessary to novate all the current bilateral contracts to standardised contracts. To achieve this may result in a transition period until all bilateral contracts are novated.

If you have any questions with regard to the comments put forward, please do not hesitate to contact me

Yours sincerely

C Price
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